S235968

SUPREME COURT COPY SUPREME COURT FILED

Case No. S_____

JUL 18 2016

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

DAWN HASSELL, et al. Plaintiffs and Respondents,

VS.

AVA BIRD, Defendant,

YELP INC., Appellant.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A143233
Superior Court of the County of San Francisco
Case No. CGC-13-530525, The Honorable Ernest H. Goldsmith

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP

THOMAS R. BURKE thomasburke@dwt.com (SB# 141930)
*ROCHELLE L. WILCOX rochellewilcox@dwt.com (SB# 197790)
505 Montgomery Street, Suite 800, San Francisco, CA 94111-6533

I. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED</u>

1. This Court has recognized a narrow exception to the requirement that a non-party to litigation receive notice and an opportunity to be heard before an order is entered that may be applied to that non-party, limiting that exception to cases where the non-party is acting in concert with a party, or the party can only act through others (such as a union that can only act through its members).

Can that narrow exception be extended to a non-party without any factual findings to support that extension, thus allowing courts to deprive online publishers of notice and the right to be heard before infringing their First Amendment rights by ordering them to remove online content?

2. 47 U.S.C. § 230(c)(1) and (e)(3) prohibit courts from treating any "provider ... of an interactive computer service ... as the publisher or speaker of any information provided by another content provider," and, separately, from permitting a "cause of action [to] be brought" or "liability [to] be imposed" if it is "inconsistent with this section."

Despite Section 230's statutory immunity, may a court enjoin a website publisher and require it to remove third-party-created content from its website—and impose contempt citations and related liabilities that might flow from a failure to abide by such an injunction—merely because the plaintiff chose not to name the website publisher as a party in the litigation?

II. REASON REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Occasionally a legal principle adopted to prevent abuse gets transformed through misinterpretation into a weapon for abuse. When that happens in California, it falls to this Court to step in and correct such misuse. This is such a time.

In a published decision, the Court of Appeal for the First Appellate District, Division Four, affirmed an injunction, entered without notice or an opportunity to be heard, against Yelp. The injunction required Yelp—a non-party in the litigation—to remove reviews from its website Yelp.com (along with Yelp's related websites and mobile applications, referred to simply as "Yelp"). Without meaningful analysis, and dismissing Yelp's First Amendment right to control its website, the appellate court invoked a common law principle created to prevent parties from evading an injunction through gamesmanship (i.e., by acting in collusion with non-parties). The court did not find, or even consider whether, Yelp had engaged in such conduct. The appellate Opinion contemplates contempt and sanctions proceedings against Yelp if it refuses to comply, although Yelp has no material connection to the enjoined party and engaged in no wrongful conduct.

This Court's review of the court of appeal's due process analysis is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision [and] to settle an important question of law"—whether non-parties are entitled to notice before being

subject to an injunction that infringes *their rights*, including, as here, fundamental First Amendment rights. Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1). The appellate Opinion drastically expands the narrow exception to due process invoked by the court, applying it to a novel factual scenario without any evidence that the exception should apply—and, indeed, expressly disclaiming the need for any evidence. Op. 21.

In effect—and without analyzing whether these cases should be extended to this very different factual scenario—the court turned a narrow exception into a general rule, which now allows courts across California to expressly name non-parties in injunctions without any factual findings of misconduct. *Cf.* Eric Goldman, *Yelp Forced to Remove Defamatory Reviews—Hassell v. Bird*, Tech. & Mark. Law Blog, June 8, 2016, available at http://blog.ericgoldman.org/archives/2016/06/yelp-forced-to-remove-defamatory-reviews-hassell-v-bird.htm ("*Goldman II*") ("I guess California courts have virtually unlimited discretion to apply injunctions to non-parties as they see fit?"). In doing so, the court rendered meaningless the careful guidelines California courts have adopted to limit the scope of this narrow exception, giving litigants nationwide an incentive to forum shop in California and a roadmap to circumvent due process rights here.

The court of appeal combined its unwarranted *expansion* of this limited common law principle, with an unprecedented *narrowing* of the protection provided by the Communications Decency Act, 47 U.S.C. § 230

("Section 230"), to deny Yelp the federal immunity it would have received if Hassell had sued it. Addressing this issue for the first time in California, the court exalted the form of the action—namely, the fact that Yelp was tactically not named as a party—over the substance of Section 230 and Congress' clear intent in enacting it to protect websites from actions that treat them as publishers or distributors of third-party content.

Section 230 immunity plays a vital role in the legal landscape that has allowed the Internet to flourish. As this Court noted a decade ago in its sole decision evaluating Section 230, "[t]he provisions of section 230(c)(1), conferring broad immunity on Internet intermediaries, are [] a strong demonstration of legislative commitment to the value of maintaining a free market for online expression." Barrett v. Rosenthal (2006) 40 Cal.4th 33, 56 ("Barrett"). In Barrett, this Court made clear that Section 230 immunizes website operators from actions by disgruntled businesses hoping to punish them for allowing third-party content—even defamatory content—to remain on their websites. Id. at 39-40. The court of appeal followed Barrett in name alone. Op. at 27. It narrowly interpreted Section 230 to give plaintiffs a means of directly punishing website publishers for displaying third party content. In doing so, it created a clear conflict between its holding and the broad interpretation of Section 230 that this Court recognized in Barrett.

The Section 230 ruling is particularly problematic because it is utterly inconsistent with the court's due process ruling. Section 230(c)(1) broadly mandates that "[n]o provider or user of an interactive computer service shall be treated as the publisher or speaker of any information provided by another information content provider." Yet here, the court affirmed an injunction imposed on Yelp by stretching due process law to conclude that Yelp was acting "with or for" Bird (Op. 30-31)—treating Yelp as standing in Bird's shoes solely based on Yelp's role as an online publisher of her alleged content. This contradiction injects confusion into each of these legal principles.

This Court's review in this matter is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision [and] to settle an important question of law"—should California courts continue to adhere to the broad interpretation of Section 230 that this Court approved in *Barrett*? Cal. R. Ct. 8.500(b)(1).

The impact of the court of appeal's due process and Section 230 decisions for the vitality of online speech is immense. Viewed only through the prism of review websites such as Yelp, this is a tremendously important issue because of the high value that easy access to consumer reviews offers to the general public. *E.g., Edwards v. District of Columbia*, 755 F.3d 996, 1006 (D.C. Cir. 2014) ("[f]urther incentivizing a quality consumer experience are the numerous consumer review websites, like Yelp ..., which provide consumers a forum to rate the quality of their

experiences"). If Yelp and entities like it are denied their right to exercise editorial control in publishing consumer reviews—providing businesses an effective tool to remove critical commentary—consumers will suffer.

But the appellate decision reaches far beyond this single area, vast though it may be. A wide array of website publishers display third-party content, including political organizations, media entities, and repositories of creative content such as YouTube, to name only a few. Some of this content entertains or educates, while some simultaneously offends, and much of it walks a line between protected and unprotected speech. The value of such content lies in diversity, and websites benefit from offering these disparate views and opinions to their users.

This does not leave plaintiffs like Hassell without a remedy—although if it did it would not matter because Congress' intent controls. For twenty years, Congress has insisted that plaintiffs look to the content creator alone for a remedy, through tools such as judgment liens and contempt proceedings—post-judgment options that Hassell never pursued here. During those twenty years, no court has approved Hassell's stratagem of denying a website publisher its due process rights in order to tactically avoid the immunity Congress established through Section 230. The appellate court's blessing of the injunction entered against Yelp, following an *uncontested* hearing to prove up the default judgment against Bird

(A00213), is a loophole that future plaintiffs will exploit to escape Section 230's broad immunity.

Yelp and other websites will suffer as a result of this Opinion. But more importantly, members of the public that rely on the wealth of online third-party commentary—to aid decision-making on myriad issues like consumer purchases, politics, and employment— will be harmed as subjects of criticism follow Hassell's example: intentionally sue the commenter alone, perhaps in a manner that maximizes the chance that he or she will be unable or unwilling to defend the lawsuit regardless of its underlying merit, and then after a default judgment present the injunction to the website publisher as an unassailable *fait accompli*.

The issues presented in this case are unresolved in California.

Together, the court of appeal's holdings threaten to undermine the validity and efficacy of the information available to consumers, and online speech generally. On each of these questions of first impression in California, the court of appeal reached the wrong result. Yelp requests, therefore, that this Court accept review and resolve the important issues presented.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURE

A. Yelp's Website Publishes Tens of Millions Of Third-Party Consumer Reviews.

Yelp allows any member of the public to read and write online reviews about local businesses, government services, and other entities.

A00240. Yelp is available to the public at no charge and without any registration requirement. *Id.* Those who register by creating an account may write reviews about businesses and service providers, and thus contribute to a growing body of tens of millions of publicly-available consumer reviews. *Id.* Tens of millions of other users read the reviews on Yelp when making a wide range of consumer and other decisions. *Id.* The businesses listed on Yelp also can create free accounts, which allow them to publicly respond to any review, with such a response appearing next to the original review. *Id.* Reviewers on Yelp can remove their reviews at any time. A00841. As Yelp's website explains, it applies automated software to all reviews posted in an attempt to provide the most helpful reviews to consumers. A00519.

- B. Hassell Obtains An Injunction Against Yelp Without Giving It Any Notice.
 - 1. Third-Party Users Write Critical Reviews About Hassell Law Group On Yelp.

Hassell, a San Francisco attorney, owns The Hassell Law Group, P.C. A00006. According to Hassell's Complaint, Bird suffered a personal injury on June 16, 2012, and retained The Hassell Law Group. A00002-3. After a few months, Hassell ended the attorney-client relationship. *Id.* On January 28, 2013 a user with the screen name "Birdzeye B." posted a one-star review of The Hassell Law Group on Yelp, complaining about Hassell's legal services. A00018. Believing that "Birdzeye B." was Bird,

Hassell sent Bird an email that day, requesting she remove the "factual inaccuracies and defamatory remarks" from Yelp. A00005. Bird replied the next day, complaining about Hassell's representation. A00348.

2. Hassell Sues Bird And Obtains A Default Judgment, Which Includes An Injunction Against Yelp.

On April 10, 2013, Dawn Hassell individually, and the Hassell Law Group P.C., filed a complaint against Bird, but not Yelp, in San Francisco Superior Court. A00002. The suit asserted claims based on two allegedly defamatory reviews—one by Birdzeye B. and another by a reviewer identified as J.D. (A00004-5)¹—and sought compensatory and punitive damages. It also sought injunctive relief against Bird only. A00013. Although the Birdzeye B. public account profile stated that its creator lived in Los Angeles (A00091), Bird was served through substitute service on the owner of the Oakland home in which Bird was injured, who told the process server that he had not seen Bird in months. A00026. On July 11, 2013, the court entered a default against Bird. A00023.

On November 1, 2013, Hassell filed a Summary of the Case in Support of Default Judgment and Request for Injunctive Relief. A00033-36. Hassell significantly expanded the relief being sought as described in the Complaint, adding another allegedly defamatory statement to her claim

¹ Hassell claimed that "J.D." was Bird based on the review's use of capitalization, despite the content being at odds with the original challenged statement. A00034, A00099.

(A00036, A00102)² and demanding for the first time that the court "make an order compelling Defendant and Yelp to *remove* the defamatory statements, including all entire posts, immediately. If for any reason Defendant does not remove them all by the Court-ordered deadline (which is likely given Defendant's refusal to answer the complaint), *the Court should order Yelp.com to remove all 3 of them.*" A00051 (emphasis in original).

Plaintiffs' Request for Judgment went even further, seeking "an Order ordering Yelp.com to remove the reviews and subsequent comments of the reviewer within 7 business days of the date of the court's Order." A00051. Hassell intentionally did not serve her application for default judgment on Yelp or otherwise notify Yelp about it. A00243; see also A00837. The court granted the requested injunction, including the part directed to non-party Yelp. A00213. The court made no factual findings as to Yelp. *Id*.

C. The Trial Court Denies Yelp's Motion To Vacate The Injunction.

On January 28, 2014, Yelp's registered agent for service of process received by mail a letter enclosing a notice of entry of judgment or order and threatening Yelp with contempt proceedings if it did not comply with the order. A00537-547. On February 3, 2014, Yelp responded to Hassell

² She added another post from Birdzeye B. that primarily criticized the litigation. A00036, A00102.

by letter, stating that as a non-party which did not receive notice or an opportunity to be heard, Yelp was not bound by the terms of the Judgment. A00548-550. Yelp further explained that Section 230 precludes enforcement of the injunction, or liability as to Yelp. A00549. Hassell did not respond until April 30, 2014. She claimed that her office was "currently setting a motion to enforce the court's order against Yelp," but did not respond substantively to Yelp's position. A00551.

On May 23, 2014, Yelp moved to vacate the Judgment. A00225-470. Hassell opposed Yelp's Motion to Vacate. A00471-572. On September 29, 2014, the trial court denied Yelp's Motion. A00808. It quoted from *Ross v. Superior Court* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 899, 906 ("*Ross*"), and *Berger v. Superior Court* (1917) 175 Cal. 719, 721 ("*Berger*"), to hold that injunctions may run to non-parties who are aiding and abetting an enjoined person to violate an injunction, and concluded that Yelp fit within this exception to general due process requirements. A00808-809. It did not address Yelp's claim to immunity under Section 230.

D. The Court Of Appeal Affirms The Trial Court's Decision.

In a published decision, the court of appeal affirmed the trial court's conclusion that Yelp was bound by the injunction. Op. 1-2. As relevant here, the court characterized the order requiring Yelp to remove content from its website as a "removal order"—not an injunction (Op. 1)—and treated the "removal order" as if it were separate from the Judgment (e.g.,

Op. 10-11 (concluding that Yelp was not aggrieved by the default judgment, but was aggrieved by the removal order)).³

After evaluating Yelp's standing to appeal (issues not raised here), the appellate court rejected Yelp's argument that due process barred enforcement of the injunction against it. Op. 18-23. The court noted, first, that "An Injunction Can Run Against a Nonparty." Op. 18. Citing a handful of cases, the court concluded that "settled principles undermine Yelp's theory that the trial court was without any authority to include a provision in the Bird judgment which ordered Yelp to effectuate the injunction against Bird by deleting her defamatory reviews." Op. 19.

The appellate court did not discuss or apply any of the requirements that California courts have enunciated to justify extending an injunction to a non-party. Op. 19-21. Instead, it simply distinguished the cases Yelp cited, concluding that none presented facts similar to those presented here. *Id.* The court made clear that its decision did not turn on the facts of the case, and that the question of whether Yelp was "aiding and abetting" Bird's violation of the injunction "has no bearing on the question whether

³ Some of the court's holdings seemed to grow out of this novel characterization of the injunction against Yelp, and its Opinion ultimately turned on its conclusion that Yelp was not subject to an injunction at all. *E.g.*, Op. 29 ("[a]gain though, the party that was enjoined from publishing content in this case was Bird,"). But the "removal order" is a classic injunction and the court of appeal created uncertainty in the law by treating it as anything else. *E.g.*, *PV Little Italy*, *LLC v. Metro Work Condominium Ass* 'n (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 132, 143 n.5.

the trial court was without power to issue the removal order in the first instance." Op. 21.

The court next rejected Yelp's argument that the First Amendment protects its right to distribute Bird's speech. Op. 21-23. The court distinguished a U.S. Supreme Court case holding that book and magazine distributors are entitled to due process in connection with a seizure order. Op. 21-22, citing *Marcus v. Search Warrants* (1961) 367 U.S. 717 ("Marcus"). The court explained that "in this context, it appears to us that the removal order does not treat Yelp as a publisher of Bird's speech, but rather as the administrator of the forum that Bird utilized to publish her defamatory reviews." *Id.* The court also suggested that the issue was whether a *prior* hearing was required, and that this case differs from *Marcus* because here "specific speech has already been found to be defamatory in a judicial proceeding." Op. 23.

The court also rejected Yelp's argument that the injunction is an unconstitutional prior restraint. Op. 23-26. Expanding this Court's decision in *Balboa Island Village Inn, Inc. v. Lemen* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1141 ("*Balboa Island*"), the court held that "the trial court had the power to make the part of this order requiring Yelp to remove the [statements at issue] because the injunction prohibiting Bird from repeating those statements was issued following a determination at trial that those statements are defamatory." Op. 25.

Finally, the court held that Section 230 did not protect Yelp from Hassell's injunction. Op. 26-31. Its decision turned largely on the fact that Hassell intentionally chose not to sue Yelp, or even give it advance notice of her claims, which the court found "distinguish[ed] the present case from Yelp's authority, all cases in which causes of action or lawsuits against internet service providers were dismissed pursuant to section 230." Op. 28 (citations omitted); *see also id.* 29-30 (distinguishing cases barring actions for injunctive relief because in each the claim was asserted "against an Internet service provider defendant in a civil lawsuit"); *id.* 30-31 ("[i]f an injunction is itself a form of liability, that liability was imposed on Bird, not Yelp"). The court rejected each of Yelp's arguments. Op. 29-31.

Yelp did not file a petition for rehearing.

IV. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO RESOLVE TWO QUESTIONS VITAL TO WEBSITES THAT PUBLISH THIRD-PARTY CONTENT

A. This Court Should Accept Review To Establish That Website Publishers Are Entitled To Notice And An Opportunity To Be Heard Before They Are Ordered To Remove Content.

The injunction here names Yelp—although it is not a party to this action—and specifically orders Yelp to remove content from its website. Invoking what it described as "settled principles" to reject Yelp's due process arguments, the court insisted that a non-party may be subject to an injunction if it is "acting in concert with the enjoined party and in support of its claims." Op. 19 (citations omitted).

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