## SUPREME COURT COPY

No. S235968

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DAWN L. HASSELL and THE HASSELL LAW GROUP, P.CŞUPREME COURT Plaintiffs and Respondents

v.

AUG - 8 2016

YELP, INC. Appellant.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A143233

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California, County of San Francisco, Case No. CGC-13-53025, The Honorable Donald J. Sullivan and the Honorable Ernest H. Goldsmith, presiding

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO YELP'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

In line with decades of authority, the Court of Appeal properly found that Yelp can be ordered to remove defamatory content from its website.

There is no unsettled question here warranting review.

# 2. Due Process Concerns Are Not Implicated Where Speech Is Defamatory and Thus Unprotected by the First Amendment.

Yelp also presses the same issue it did below: a strained claim that it has First Amendment rights as a publisher which are infringed by ordering it to remove content without notice and a hearing. Yelp repeatedly ignores the key fact that resoundingly resolves this issue and also makes this case a particularly poor vehicle for review – there is simply no First Amendment protection where, as here, the statements at issue are statements that have been conclusively adjudged to be defamatory. (See *Bill Johnson's Rests.*, *Inc. v. N.L.R.B.* (1983) 461 U.S. 731, 743 ("[F]alse statements are not immunized by the First Amendment.") In its Petition, as in its briefing below, "Yelp does not cite any authority which confers a constitutional right to a prior hearing before a distributor can be ordered to comply with an injunction that precludes republication of specific third party speech that

has already been adjudged to be unprotected and tortious." (Op., 23.)

As accurately explained by the Court of Appeal, the case of *Marcus* v. Search Warrant of Property (1961) 367 U.S. 717, upon which Yelp struggles to rely, presented an entirely different set of facts, where (1) the material had not yet been adjudicated to be oscene, unlike here, where there is already a court judgment finding the statements defamatory; (2) the distributors themselves had First Amendment rights, which Yelp elsewhere in its brief disclaims; and (3) the ex parte pre-seizure proceedings were only one piece of the overall procedural balancing. (Op., 22-23.) Yelp cannot shoehorn this case into the line of cases finding constitutional concerns where there is state action involving speech that was merely suspected of being unlawful. That distinction is critical: Yelp's conduct – insisting on continuing to host adjudged defamatory content – has no constitutional protection.

For this same reason, the Court of Appeal's reference to Yelp as an "administrator of the forum" did not "invent[] a role" for Yelp that took it outside of constitutional protection. This argument is a red herring premised on Yelp's broad and inapplicable contention that it "has a separate First Amendment right to distribute speech." (Pet., 18.) This case does not implicate that principle, but instead is limited to the much more narrow issue of whether Yelp has a constitutional right to continue in perpetuity to host defamatory speech. It does not. (*Keeton*, 465 U.S. at p. 776 (false statements have "no constitutional value").)

Further, as the Court of Appeal properly found, the law is clear that even if Yelp could assert a First Amendment right, which it decidedly cannot do on this record, the United States Supreme Court has "never held, or even implied, that there is an absolute First or Fourteenth Amendment right to a prior adversary hearing applicable to all cases where allegedly

obscene material is seized." (*Heller*, 413 U.S. at p. 488; Op., 23). To the extent Yelp seeks to challenge that conclusion, this record presents no such opportunity.

In short, Yelp's due process arguments do not raise any novel legal questions that need to be settled by this Court. On the contrary, it's positions have already been soundly rejected by long-established precedent.

## C. There Is No Issue of Unconstitutional Prior Restraint Warranting Review.

Although poorly articulated, Yelp also seems to renew another argument it raised below, that the removal order also operates as an unconstitutional prior restraint. (See Pet., 25-26 ("The appellate court did not explain why Yelp should receive less protection against a prior restraint," and "Balboa Island does not support the prior restraint entered against Yelp here.").)<sup>3</sup>

But as the Court of Appeal found, this Court's decision in *Balboa Island* conclusively resolves that issue against Yelp. There, this Court held that "an injunction issued following a trial that determined that the defendant defamed the plaintiff that does no more than prohibit the defendant from repeating the defamation, is not a prior restraint and does not offend the First Amendment." (40 Cal.4th at p. 1148; Op., 24.) Yelp's tortured comparison of *Balboa Island*, that it turned on a "contested trial" rather than a "default judgment...that did not evaluate any of the individual statements to determine if they are false, defamatory, and unprivileged,"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As noted above, the Court of Appeal remanded the case to the trial court to limit the injunction to the statements adjudged to be defamatory. (See Op., 25 ("to the extent the trial court additionally ordered Yelp to remove subsequent comments that Bird or anyone else might post, the removal order is an overbroad restraint on speech.").) Review of this particular issue is therefore entirely unnecessary.

shows Yelp's true grievance. Yelp is not contesting what was a correct application of the law by the Court of Appeal; instead it wants to challenge the underlying defamation.<sup>4</sup> But as the lower court properly found, Yelp, which has repeatedly disavowed any involvement in the creation of Bird's defamatory statements, has no standing to challenge the finding of defamation. (Op., 25.) Stripped of that argument, Yelp has no argument to resist the straightforward application of this Court's holding in *Balboa Island*, which plainly did not turn on the fact that it was a "contested trial," as opposed to a default judgment. (40 Cal.4th at p. 1156 ("Once specific expressional acts are properly determined to be unprotected by the First Amendment, there can be no objection to their subsequent suppression or prosecution."))

# II. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S STRAIGHTFORWARD APPLICATION OF THE EXPRESS TERMS OF THE CDA DOES NOT PRESENT GROUNDS FOR THIS COURT'S REVIEW.

Yelp also argues that this Court should review the appellate court's decision on CDA immunity. However, this stance is based on the entirely false premise that the case against Bird has somehow held Yelp liable for her defamatory remarks. The plain language in the CDA, and the legislative history creating it, show that no error occurred in this case, and

<sup>4</sup> Yelp's response to Hassell when they asked that the reviews be removed proves the point: Yelp's General Counsel acknowledged that it would remove defamatory statements, but claimed that the defamation here was not "proven" because it was a bench trial and a default judgment. (AA.V3.T27.00734.) Yelp's view of what is and what is not defamation is not entitled to deference in the face of a court judgment. Yelp's repeated characterizations of Bird's statements as merely "critical" are, therefore, a fundamental misrepresentation which it uses to improperly suggest First Amendment concerns which simply do not exist on this record.

no grounds for this Court's review.5

Under the plain language of the statute, "[n]o cause of action and no liability may be imposed under any State or local law that is inconsistent with" the CDA. (47 U.S.C. § 230(e)(3).) As succinctly explained by the Court of Appeal, the injunction issued in this case does not violate Section 230 "because it does not impose any liability on Yelp. In this defamation action, Hassell filed their complaint against Bird, not Yelp; obtained a default judgment against Bird, not Yelp; and was awarded damages and injunctive relief against Bird, not Yelp." (Op., 28.) This is not the "superficial" analysis urged by Petitioner (Pet., 29), but a straightforward application of the statute's plain language.

This liability shield in the CDA serves the "dual purposes" of encouraging self-regulation by providers while also advancing free speech more generally. (See *Barrett v. Rosenthal* (2006) 40 Cal.4th 33, 51 (citing *Zeran v. Am. Online, Inc.* (4th Cir. 1997) 129 F.3d 327, 333.).) The genesis of the CDA was a New York case where an internet provider was being held liable in a \$200 million defamation case based on comments by a third-party user. (See *Stratton Oakmont v. Prodigy Servs. Co.* (N.Y.Sup. Ct. May 24, 1995) INDEX No. 31063/94, 1995 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 229.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the Court of Appeal, Respondents argued that Yelp's motion to vacate was untimely. The Court of Appeal agreed Yelp's statutory motion to vacate under Code of Civil Procedure section 663 was untimely, but found Yelp timely filed a motion to vacate the judgment as a "void" judgment. (Op., 15-18.) Yelp's argument that its motion to vacate the judgment should have been granted based on CDA immunity, however, is not a ground to attack the judgment as a "void" judgment. (See Signal Oil and Gas v. Ashland Oil and Refining Co. (1958) 49 Cal.2d 764; Yeung v. Soos, 119 Cal.App.4th 576, 580.) Accordingly, Yelp's motion to vacate based on the CDA was untimely, which is a further ground for denial of Yelp's Petition.

The *Stratton* Court's rationale was that, because the internet provider exercised some editorial control over third-party content, such as banning nudity and offensive language, it more closely fit the traditional role of publisher, rather than a distributor of material. (*Id.*) Congress recognized that this decision created a "backward" result by punishing an internet provider with massive tort liability from countless users because of its decision to protect children from offensive materials. It also recognized that the scale of such liability would result in overly aggressive censorship, eventually chilling the exercise of free speech. (141 Congressional Record H8469–H8470 (daily ed., June 14, 1995) (statement of Rep. Cox); see also *Barrett*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 51.)

These "dual purposes" of Section 230 are not implicated in this case because, as described above, Yelp is not targeted for any liability whatsoever. Accordingly, Yelp's characterization of the Court of Appeal's decision as conflicting with this Court's decision in Barrett is incorrect. There, the Court was not concerned with the narrow issue presented here: a specific removal order aimed at three discrete postings by a specific individual adjudged to be defamatory. This case does not implicate the concerns articulated in *Barrett*, or in the passage of the CDA generally. There is no danger that Yelp will engage in overbroad self-censorship by complying with the order. Nor will Yelp have any burden from investigating whether the comments are defamatory, screening reviews, evaluating whether the reviews are unlawful, or defending against a suit. Indeed, Yelp fails to explain how requiring an internet service provider to comply with a specific court order about a user's liability for defamation could chill any speech or impose any undue burden that could affect the robust expression of ideas on the internet. There is no public policy served by protecting the republication of statements that have been conclusively

found by a court of law to be defamatory.

While Yelp requests that this Court use this case as a vehicle "to reconfirm the scope of Section 230" (Pet., 27), the recent jurisprudence from the Courts of Appeal, including this case, is entirely consistent with the language and intent of the CDA. For instance, Yelp argues that the First District Court of Appeal incorrectly decided the case of Hardin v. PDX, Inc. (2014) 227 Cal. App. 4th 159, because, in Yelp's view, the Hardin Court mischaracterized the software provider as "participat[ing] in creating or altering content," and thus falling outside the scope of CDA immunity. (Id. at p. 170.) However, Yelp provides no explanation beyond that parenthetical, and it is unclear why Yelp perceives that description as a mischaracterization. In fact, the Hardin case involved a software provider who "intentionally modified its software to... [print] abbreviated drug monographs that automatically omitted warnings of serious risks." (Id.) Such heavily altered content clearly falls outside the scope of CDA immunity. (See Barrett, 40 Cal.4th at p. 60, fn. 19 ("active involvement in the creation of' content would expose the defendant to liability).) In any event, the conclusion in Hardin would not be implicated by any review of the CDA in this case, where Yelp expressly disavows having created the defamatory speech at issue.

Nor is the instant decision "contrary to other California decisions" as suggested by Yelp. (Pet., 30.) Crucially, each of these "other California decisions" involves a cause of action asserted directly against the provider. (See *Doe II v. MySpace Inc.* (2009) 175 Cal.App.4th 561 (negligence, gross negligence, and products liability); *Gentry v. eBay, Inc.* (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 816 (causes of action under Civil Code § 1739.7, negligence, and the Unfair Competition Law); *Kathleen R. v. City of Livermore* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 684 (Section 1983 claim for injunctive relief); see also

Medytox Solutions, Inc. v. Investorshub.com, Inc. (Fla. Dist. Ct. App., 2014) 152 So.3d 727 (causes of action for declaratory and injunctive relief).) Tellingly, the only "authority" cited by Yelp to support its position that Section 230 empowers it to flout an injunction such as this one is a blog post. (Pet., 26, citing Eric Goldman, WTF Is Going On With Section 230? – Cross v. Facebook, Technology & Marketing Blog, June 7, 2016, available at Law Blog, June 7, 2016, available at http://blog.ericgoldman.org/archives/2016/06/wtf-is-going-on-with-section-230-cross-v-facebook.htm.)

Furthermore, the removal order does not "treat[] Yelp as the speaker or publisher of third-party content on its website" in contradiction of Section 230(c)(1). (Pet., 31.) The crucial question under that provision is "whether the duty that the plaintiff alleges the defendant violated derives from the defendant's status or conduct as a 'publisher or speaker,' [and] [i]f it does, section 230(c)(1) precludes liability." (Barnes v. Yahoo!, Inc. (9th Cir. 2009) 570 F.3d 1096, 1102.) However, Hassell have not sought to treat Yelp "as a 'speaker' of the poster's words," (Chi. Lawyers' Comm. for Civ. Rights Under Law, Inc. v. Craigslist, Inc. (7th Cir. 2008) 519 F.3d 666, 671), "impose derivative liability on [Yelp] for [Bird's] Internet communications," (Delfino v. Agilent Technologies, Inc. (2012) 145 Cal.App.4th 790, 802), or to "imput[e]to it the alleged misinformation." (Universal Comm'cn Sys., Inc. v. Lycos, Inc. (1st Cir. 2007) 478 F.3d 413, 422). Instead, Hassell have held the speaker herself, Bird, liable and seek to enforce that injunction against Yelp, as a party with or through whom Bird is acting.

Finally, Yelp issues a misguided warning that the Court of Appeal's decision opens a "gaping hole in Section 230 immunity that inevitably will be exploited to pursue the very actions Congress intended to bar." (Pet.,

29.) This bogeyman is entirely unpersuasive. As described above, Section 230 was intended to protect websites from million-dollar tort judgments by a wide user base, not to allow websites to continue hosting content that had already been adjudicated as defamatory. Nor are there any grounds to assume that countless internet users will use this case as a vehicle to procure fraudulent judgments (after prove-up or other contested hearings) simply to remove unsavory content from websites. Yelp's doomsday forecast ignores that this case involves a judgment supported by proven defamation, based on an extensive evidentiary record, by a named individual.

In the end, Yelp apparently believes that the CDA immunizes it from any and "all court orders." (Pet., 28.) Not so. In fact, this case – a tort action against the speaker of the defamatory words – does not implicate the CDA or Section 230 immunity. At no point have Hassell attempted to hold Yelp liable for Bird's speech. As a result, this case does not present any important or otherwise unsettled legal issues that require this Court's intervention.

#### CONCLUSION

For the forgoing reasons, the Petition for review should be denied.